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________________________)
Complaint and Request for Injunction, Request

For Investigation and for Other Relief
[clickwrap agreement used by Google to select federal judges in antitrust cases; AdWords monopoly and discriminatory pricing; and monopoly in monetizing website traffic]
INTRODUCTION

1..
This complaint concerns the selection by Google, Inc. (“Google”) of federal judges to be assigned to antitrust actions brought against Google, a company having monopoly power already, and poised to become the largest monopolist ever, not only in the United States, but throughout most other countries.
2..
A series of acquisitions by Google to assemble its monopoly in online search advertising and the monetization of website traffic is described in Appendix A, part of the undersigned’s 2nd Amended Complaint (for monopolization) in his action against Google, transferred from the Southern District of New York to Google’s local federal court, in San Jose, California, a division of the Northern District of California. The action was dismissed and is now on appeal in the 9th Circuit Court of Appeals.
3..
Also, the instant complaint concerns discriminatory pricing by Google of its AdWords advertising.  Because Google has acquired its monopoly through a minimum of 20 (and as many as 70) acquisitions of patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets, directly or indirectly, Google should be offering its AdWords advertising on a non-discriminatory basis until its illegally-acquired monopoly is eliminated. Google should be required to offer use of its monopolies in the same way a patent owner is required to license multiple non-exclusive licensees, on a non-discriminatory basis. See 1978 district court decision in Berkey Photo, Inc. v. Eastman Kodak Company1 [all footnotes are at end of complaint, starting at p. 10] for a discussion of the basis for imposing non-discriminatory pricing on illegal monopolies.
PARTIES

4..
Carl E. Person (“Person”) is a Google AdWords advertiser, who attempted to use AdWords during the 2006 election campaign in a failed effort to run for New York State Attorney General.  Also, Person is a competitor of Google in the creation, development, marketing and monetization of “Community Search Websites” (also called "social-networking websites"), such as YouTube, MySpace and FaceBook, which today is a multi-billion dollar market dominated by Google.

5..
Google was incorporated in California in September, 1998 and reincorporated in Delaware in August, 2003.  Google’s claimed principal offices are located at 1600 Amphitheatre Parkway, Mountain View, California 94043, in Santa Clara County, about 15 miles from San Jose, California. Google’s principal office for AdWords (its primary source of revenue) recently moved to Ann Arbor, Michigan2  or may be in New York, New York3.  At all times material to this complaint, Google’s course of business, including the acts and practices alleged herein, has been and is in or affecting commerce, as “commerce” is defined in Section 4 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45.
GOOGLE’S CLICKWRAP AGREEMENT

6..
Every Google AdWords customer is required by Google to give electronic assent to Google’s terms and conditions of using Google’s AdWords advertising system.  Electronic agreements of this type are known as “clickwrap” agreements.  One of Google’s imposed terms and conditions is that no matter where you are in the world (even for example if you are in Ireland) you have to commence any actions or proceedings, including any arbitration proceedings, against Google in Santa Clara County, California.  
7..
Antitrust actions under the Sherman Act are to be brought in federal court exclusively.4
8..
By reason of the Google clickwrap agreement, any AdWords customer seeking to sue Google in a federal antitrust action is required to commence the action in the Northern District of California.5
9..
Because of the clickwrap agreement, each action against Google commenced in the Northern District of California is assigned to the San Jose Division (which has 3 of the 18 federal district-court Article III judges assigned to the entire Northern District of California.6  One of these 3 judges is then assigned to the case, and none of the 15 other federal district judges in the Northern District of California, and none of the 660 other federal district judges located in the other 93 Judicial Districts throughout the United States ever gets assigned to any such antitrust cases brought against Google.  Google has set up a “monopoly” in the federal judicial system in which 3 of the nation’s 678 federal district court judges7 or about ½ of 1% of all federal district judges get to hear and rule on Google’s alleged antitrust violations, whereas 99.5% of the federal district judges in the United States are prevented from being assigned to any such case by reason of Google’s clickwrap agreement.
10..
The Northern District of California has a rule (Civil Local Rule 3-2, entitled “Commencement and Assignment of Action”) requiring all intellectual property cases to be assigned at random to all district court judges in the Northern District of California8, but the Court refused to treat Person v. Google as an intellectual property case in spite of the argument that Google is using its acquisitions of patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets to monopolize the described markets.

LITIGATION STRATEGY AS AN ILLEGAL BUSINESS PRACTICE

11..
The Courts have recognized that certain litigation practices (sometimes referred to as “sham litigation” practices, can be antitrust violations.  See California Motor Transport Co. v. Trucking Unlimited (1972); Otter Tail Power Co. v. United States  (1973) and Eastern Railroad Presidents Conference v. Noerr Motor Freight, Inc. (1961).9  Selecting federal judges in federal antitrust cases should be viewed as an unfair and deceptive practice tending to create a monopoly or to maintain and increase an existing monopoly.
12..
Selection of federal judges is prohibited by federal rules, because of the obvious result that judges thought to be favorable to the party selecting the judge is bound to occur, which creates an immediate and often non-recoverable disadvantage to the opposing party.

13..
When a company has a monopoly the ability to select judges is compounded a thousand fold as to defendant parties such as Google.  Google is already a monopolist and without antitrust restraint is gobbling up as much business as it can with its monopolistic profits, and extending its monopoly beyond its initial monopoly (online search advertising). It has now extended that monopoly into the monetization of Community Search Websites, and with the DoubleClick acquisition is threatening to extend its monopoly into all internet advertising, from which it will be able to move into any other non-internet fields it chooses, to create monopolies from one industry to another (including the selection of and election of political candidates), with its monopoly of accessing the world’s available information).

14..
When a company of Google’s size is able to direct its antitrust business to less than ½ of 1% of all federal district court judges in the United States, there is a serious business problem for anyone attempting to compete with Google, including Person. There is no competition among federal judges; there is no diversity with which a prospective plaintiff could hope to have a hearing by a federal judge (1 of 3) who has not already approved Google’s monopoly and can hardly be expected to do an about face.  Also, there is virtually no opportunity to obtain a split between two Circuit Courts of Appeals to have a chance at going to the U.S. Supreme Court on the issue of whether Google’s specific practices are in violation of the Sherman Act.
15..
It is also an unfair and deceptive practice to move AdWords headquarters to Ann Arbor, Michigan but still require AdWords customers who bring an antitrust suit against Google to do so in Santa Clara County, California.  This failure of Google to update its clickwrap agreement to have lawsuits brought in the federal court servicing AdWords headquarters (in Ann Arbor, Michigan) points out how the clickwrap agreement is being used by Google for purposes other than the supposed purpose of enabling Google to litigate where its records and employees are located. This is a deceptive and an unfair trade practice.

15..
Companies already with a monopoly or threatening to become a monopoly should not be allowed to select the federal judges to rule on their actual or incipient monopoly. This practice should be outlawed as a predatory, anticompetitive practice, denying competitors a random selection of judges; denying competitors federal judges outside of the Northern District of California; denying competitors the right to sue Google in the plaintiff’s own city even though Google has lawyers and business operations in virtually every city in the United States.  For example, Google has an office in New York, New York at 76 Ninth Avenue – 4th Floor, and quite interestingly provides the following description for this New York office:
Google New York is a vibrant and growing home for our company in the heart of Manhattan. The team encompasses one of our largest engineering centers and the heart of our North American advertising business. [Emphasis added.]
16..
If New York, New York is the heart of Google’s North American advertising business, why was Person required to litigate his monopoly case against Google in San Jose, California?  Google has obviously been using its clickwrap agreement to achieve an anticompetitive purpose, through a deceptive litigation tactic.
STATEMENT OF FACTS

17..
Person was a bona fide candidate for New York Attorney General during 2006. See his website at www.carlperson4NYAG.com and attempted to put together an email list of 1,000,000 persons in New York State who would be interested in supporting his candidacy.  He is also attempting to create the office of New York City Attorney General and be designated by ballot initiative to fill such office. Also, Person is attempting to create and market a website, www.lawmall.com/NYCBallotInitiatives for enacting legislation in New York City through voter enactment rather than legislative enactment. These activities require the ability to use Google's AdWords and website monetizing system at non-discriminatory rates.10 
18..
Person was already an AdWords advertiser and recognized that he could create a political following (i.e., an email list of 1,000,000 voters, volunteers and contributors) in New York State by using Google’s offer to permit advertisers to pay 1 cent per click when they are the last advertiser on the list of ads actually displayed to persons who searched using a specific key word.

19..
Person’s strategy was to use keywords that nobody wanted (other than ebay, which was and still is an advertiser of last resort, running its ads to searchers using non-popular keywords), which would enable Person to create an email list of 1,000,000 names at a cost slightly higher than $10,000, to become the basis for his statewide election campaign.

20..
Google, however, changed all this at the start of the campaign, by issuing an electronic (AdWords website) order to Person that unless Person agreed to pay $.50 per click, Person would not be permitted to use AdWords.  At the same time, Google was permitting ebay to run its ads at ½ cent per click for the same keywords that Google was not requiring Person to pay $.50 per click, or 100 times the price being charged to ebay.  Also, on information and belief, Google was charging Andrew Cuomo (the leading candidate for New York State Attorney General) substantially less than 50 cents per click during the election campaign, amounting to a campaign subsidy for the winner, and pricing Person out of the election-campaign market..
21..
Google does not have anyone that an advertiser can talk with. Google is only a software system with no human interface along the way, which enables most of Google’s AdWords income to go to the bottom line. As a consequence, however, if Google decided not to do business with an AdWords advertiser, such as by increasing the per-click price to 100 times the amount being paid by a competitor at the same time for the same keyword, the rejected advertiser (i.e., Person) has no remedy other than to bring suit. But Google covers this by forcing advertisers to agree that they can sue Google only in Santa Clara County, California, to go before one of the 3 Google-experienced federal judges who handle all of Google’s antitrust litigation and have already resolved all Section 2, monopolization issues in Google’s favor.

22..
Person commenced his lawsuit in the Southern District of New York, not being aware of the clickwrap provision which he apparently assented to several years earlier.  Google at the time required that the clickwrap agreement wording be kept secret and confidential and did not choose to provide Person with a copy of the extensive terms of the agreement. This means that the advertiser is going to commence any suit locally, and not in San Jose, California.
23..
The effect of keeping the terms secret from advertisers enables Google to do the following to Person and others:  Make the plaintiff start his/her action in the wrong court, spending precious time and money and legal resources in a futile effort to obtain local relief, followed by additional litigation to determine whether the clickwrap agreement should be enforced or should be considered part of a contract of adhesion; followed by delays in moving the case to the Northern District of California (San Francisco County), followed by a motion to transfer the case to Santa Clara County, and possibly another motion to have the case brought before the very one judge who is now handling one or more other antitrust suits against Google in San Jose (as happened to Person).  Google actually selected the single judge appointed to Person’s case through a motion to designate my case related to another monopolization case against Google already pending before the judge..

24..
Then, to add insult after injury, Google then threatens the small advertiser with a lawsuit for damages caused by breach of the secret clickwrap agreement, as an extortionate technique, to attempt to coerce the plaintiff to walk away from the litigation so that the antitrust challenge against Google is not pursued.  Google did this to Person.
25..
Any clickwrap agreement by Google with its monopoly is a contract of adhesion because of the domination and ever-increasing importance that use of Google has for most persons in the world who do online searches and for advertisers to be able to use Google’s monopoly of online search advertising.  There is no substitute for Google’s AdWords, as more and more advertisers and website owners are learning, which accounts for Google’s ever-increasing growth with its monopoly in search advertising and the monetization of website traffic.  Google is able to pay more for Community Search Websites because it has the ability through its monopoly to make more money from the acquired website (such as YouTube) than any competitor (such as Microsoft and Yahoo).
Google’s Business Practices

26..
Google requires AdWords advertisers (the customers who produce the monopolistic income for Google) to agree that any federal antitrust cases must be assigned to one of 3 federal judges in Santa Clara County, California, which court division has already upheld Google’s business practices against antitrust challenge.
27..
Google has acquired its monopoly and is expanding its monopoly through a series of acquisition of patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets as described in Appendix A hereto (consisting of  ¶¶ 99A and 99B and Exhibit A to Person's 2nd Amended Complaint against Google).11
28..
Google is charging Person and most of its other small business AdWords advertisers monopolistic per-click rates requiring them to be as profitable to Google as businesses such as ebay which naturally have a higher clickthrough rate, which practice is predatory and anti-competitive because small businesses or unknown candidates for political office cannot get a high clickthrough rate.  Such pricing practice drives smaller companies and less-known political candidates out of business or their public-office candidacy.
29..
Google's interest in promoting political candidates should not go unnoticed. During the 2008 election campaign, Google's YouTube co-hosted with CNN a their 1st Democratic Presidential debate, in which only 8 of the announced presidential candidates were allowed to debate, and Google selected the 39 questions out of 3,000 questions submitted to YouTube.12  Google’s involvement with politics will grow (as Google increases it market domination) and the opportunities for independent and less-known candidates will decline, inevitably, unless Google is enjoined from charging discriminatory prices.
30..
As a consequence, Person and most other small AdWords advertisers are required to pay discriminatory, monopolistic rates to develop traffic for their websites, which become monopolistic profits for Google.

31..
Google acquired its monopoly through acquisitions and as a result has lost its right to charge discriminatory prices in the markets Google now dominates and will soon dominate.

32..
Google refuses to allow Person and most other AdWords advertisers the opportunity to monetize their websites (after having paid monopolistic AdWords rates to build the website traffic) using Google’s monopolized system for monetizing websites, essentially Community Search Websites, so that Google diverts the AdWords advertising revenues to itself and its licensees (such as MySpace and AOL).  Because Google’s monopoly has destroyed competition among other search engines (particularly Microsoft and Yahoo), the same level of profitability cannot be achieved by using any search engine and search advertising other than Google.

VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 5 OF THE FTC ACT
33..
Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce.

34..
Google’s clickwrap agreement results in the selection of federal judges in antitrust actions brought against Google, which is an unfair and deceptive method of competition, available to Google through its monopoly and through an electronic agreement which virtually no advertiser reads because the advertiser knows there is no reasonable alternative to using Google’s AdWords.

35..
Google’s discriminatory pricing policy for the pricing of AdWords advertising results from a series of acquisitions of patents, trademarks, copyrights and trade secrets and as a consequence it is an unfair and deceptive practice for Google to be charging discriminatory rates to AdWords advertisers. Google should be required to charge the same rates to all AdWords advertisers so that Person will be able to pay ½ cent per click if ebay is paying ½ cent per click and Person and ebay are the only advertisers for a specific keyword.
36..
Google’s practice of acquiring an interest in a website and monetizing the website through use of AdWords advertising is an unfair and anticompetitive practice because Google has an acquired monopoly and is not allowing Person or other small advertisers to use the monopoly to monetize their own websites on the same terms that Google provides to its favored customers, such as AOL and MySpace, or to the owners of YouTube.

Consumer Injury

37..
Consumers are injured by Google’s practices, as described above, because small businesses, websites and candidates such as Person are excluded from using AdWords because of the monopolistic rates being charged by Google.

38..
Small businesses, to attempt to get judicial relief against Google, wind up committing a high percentage of their net worth to a single lawsuit, to overcome the legal obstacles set up by Google to avoid having 99.5% of the federal judiciary look at what Google is doing from an antitrust and anticompetitive standpoint.

39..
Consumers lose candidates for office as a result.  Consumers lose the potential for new and improved businesses and products because the small businesses are prevented from competing on equal terms with the large companies provided discriminatory AdWords pricing by Google.

40..
Google’s practices further the growth of large companies into monopolies, and existing monopolies into even larger monopolies, and consumers wind up paying higher prices because of the reduction in competition that results.

CONCLUSION

41..
Google should be stopped from further extension of its monopoly through the unfair and deceptive practices of (i) requiring AdWords advertisers to agree to commence any federal antitrust lawsuits against Google in Santa Clara County, California or any other specific venue selected by Google; (ii) charging Person and other AdWords customers discriminatory prices; and (iii) denying Person and other AdWords customers the opportunity to monetize their websites using Google’s monetizing system on a non-discriminatory basis in comparison to the terms provided by Google to MySpace, AOL, YouTube.
REQUEST FOR RELIEF

42..
Initiate an investigation of Google’s use and the effect of its clickwrap agreement which requires any AdWords advertiser to bring a federal antitrust suit before 1 of 3 judges in San Jose, California rather than the other 675 federal district court judges throughout the United States, and especially in light of the fact that AdWords’ headquarters appears to be in Ann Arbor, Michigan or, more than likely, at 76 Ninth Avenue, New York, New York.
43..
Initiate an investigation of Google’s acquisition of monopoly power through its series of acquisitions of patents, trademarks, copyrights and trade secrets directly and through acquisition of about 70 corporations, and how Google has used this monopoly power to impose discriminatory AdWords prices upon Person and other small advertisers, while through such acquisitions Google has eliminated any reasonable alternative to AdWords.13
44..
Pending an adequate resolution of the issues identified in this Complaint, as well as other matters that may be brought to the Commission’s attention, the Commission should use its authority to require Google to stop enforcing its clickwrap provision requiring lawsuits to be commenced in Santa Clara County, California, and to require Google to give non-discriminatory pricing to Google’s AdWords advertisers and to allow website owners to use Google’s website traffic monetizing system on the same terms as Google’s most favored customers.
Respectfully submitted,

Carl E. Person

Candidate for Public Office and 

Creator, Developer, Marketer of Community Search Websites

325 W. 45th Street – Suite 201

New York NY  10036-3083

212-307-4444 (tel)

212-307-0247 (fax)

October 3, 2007

FOOTNOTES TO ABOVE COMPLAINT
[ 1 ]
See In Berkey Photo, Inc. v. Eastman Kodak Company, 457 F.Supp. 404, 422, 1978-1 Trade Cases P 62,092, 1978-2 Trade Cases P 62,174 (SDNY 1978), aff'd in part and rev'd in unrel.  part, 603 F.2d 263, 53 A.L.R. Fed. 768, 1979-1 Trade Cases P 62,718 (2nd Cir.1979), cert. den., 444 U.S. 1093, 100 S.Ct. 1061, 62 L.Ed.2d 783, 1980-1 Trade Cases P 63,182 (1980). See footnotes 22 and 23 in the opinion, as follows:
FN22. It is unnecessary here to conjure with possible later claims of such purchasers after the conspiracy succeeds in destroying competitors.  *423 But the conspiracy in that situation has accomplished what the monopolist  achieves by himself, the setting of a price above that which would result from competitive forces.[FN23] If the monopolist has acquired or maintained the power to do that by unlawful means, and is thus an illegal monopolist, his power to set a monopolist's price is exactly the same species of evil, and for at least as compelling reasons, as the unlawful power of conspirators to set Their price. The power to fix prices is after all the gist of monopoly power. When that power is unlawfully obtained or employed, the monopolist pursues the same proximate goal for himself as the price-fixing conspirators aim to share together. It accords with settled tort principles to hold the wrongdoer for the intended and proximate consequences of his conduct.
FN23. "(S)ince . . . (the decisions in Standard Oil Co. v. United States, 221 U.S. 1, 31 S.Ct. 502, 55 L.Ed. 619 (1911), and American Tobacco Co. v. United States, 221 U.S. 106, 31 S.Ct. 632, 55 L.Ed. 663 (1911)) it has been accepted law that not all contracts which in fact put an end to existing competition are unlawful. Starting, however, with the authoritative premise that all contracts fixing prices are unconditionally prohibited, the only possible difference between them and a monopoly is that while a monopoly necessarily involves an equal, or even greater, power to fix prices, its mere existence might be thought not to constitute an exercise of that power. That distinction is nevertheless purely formal; it would be valid only so long as the monopoly remained wholly inert; it would disappear as soon as the monopoly began to operate; for, when it did that is, as soon as it began to sell at all it must sell at some price and the only price at which it could sell is a price which it itself fixed. Thereafter the power and its exercise must needs coalesce. Indeed it would be absurd to condemn such contracts unconditionally, and not to extend the condemnation to monopolies; for the contracts are only steps toward that entire control which monopoly confers; they are really partial monopolies."  United States v. Aluminum Co. of America, 148 F.2d 416, 427-28 (2d Cir. 1945). 
[ 2 ]
http://www.google.com/support/jobs/bin/answer.py?answer=43967. At this website page for hiring people to work in Ann Arbor, Michigan, Google states that at Ann Arbor "We are responsible for generating revenue from a broad range of products such as AdWords, AdSense, Gmail and Google Earth."
[ 3 ]
http://www.google.com/support/jobs/bin/static.py?page=why-ny-ny.html
[ 4 ]
Exclusive federal jurisdiction for Sherman Act claims is provided in the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 4.
[ 5 ]
Google’s clickwrap agreement has been upheld in various courts. http://www.dilanchian.com.au/intellectual-property/adwords-contract-upheld.html and in a Southern District of New York decision in Person v. Google, and in the Northern District of California, in Person v. Google.

[ 6 ] http://www.cand.uscourts.gov/cand/judges.nsf/0310082dc8b4b3f388256d48005ed6c5?OpenView
[ 7 ]
There are 94 judicial districts in the United States. http://www.uscourts.gov/districtcourts.html.  In 2005, there were 678 federal district court judges.  http://www.citizen.org/documents/FederalDistricJudgesvastlyoutnumberedbystatejudges.pdf
[ 8 ]
Civil Local Rule 3-2(c) of the Northern District of California provides:

(c) Assignment to a Division. Pursuant to the Court’s Assignment Plan, except for Intellectual Property Actions, Securities Class Actions and Capital and Noncapital Prisoner Petitions or Prisoner Civil Rights Actions, upon initial filing, all civil actions and proceedings for which this district is the proper venue shall be assigned by the Clerk to a Courthouse serving the county in which the action arises. A civil action arises in the county in which a substantial part of the events or omissions which give rise to the claim occurred or in which a substantial part of the property that is the subject of the action is situated. Actions in the excepted categories shall be assigned on a district-wide basis. 

[ 9 ]
California Motor Transport Co. v. Trucking Unlimited, 404 U.S. 508,  92 S.Ct. 609, 30 L.Ed.2d 642 (1972); Otter Tail Power Co. v. United States, 410 U.S. 366, 93 S.Ct. 1022, 35 L.Ed.2d 359 (1973); and Eastern Railroad Presidents Conference v. Noerr Motor Freight, Inc., 365 U.S. 127, 81 S.Ct. 523, 5 L.Ed.2d 464 (1961).
[ 10 ]
Person is currently trying to create ballot initiatives in New York City – see www.lawmall.com/NYCBallotInitiatives and is completing the development of two Community Search Websites, www.myclads.com and www.attydb.com, where the users provide the information for which search is needed to locate.

[ 11 ]
A pdf copy of the entire 65-page 2nd Amended Complaint together with exhibits (as filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California, San Jose Division) are may be read or downloaded at www.lawmall.com/google/PersonvGoogle_2AmendedComplaint(pp1-35).pdf and www.lawmall.com/google/PersonvGoogle_2AmendedComplaint(36-52_Exh).pdf

[ 12 ]
http://www.cnn.com/2007/POLITICS/07/23/debate.main/
[ 13 ]
The U.S. Supreme Court has construed the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C.A. s 41, et seq., to authorize the Commission to forbid practices which had a ‘dangerous tendency unduly to hinder competition or create monopoly. Federal Trade Commission v. Beech-Nut Packing Co., 257 U.S. 441, 454, 42 S.Ct. 150, 154, 66 L.Ed. 307 (1922).

[end of footnotes]

APPENDIX A

Parts of Person's 2nd Amended Complaint against Google - see

www.lawmall.com/google/PersonvGoogle_2AmendedComplaint(pp1-35).pdf and www.lawmall.com/google/PersonvGoogle_2AmendedComplaint(36-52_Exh).pdf
ECM FILING

CARL E.  PERSON,


)
CASE NO.: C 06-7297  JF (RS)





)

      
Plaintiff,

)






)
SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT

v.


)






)
(Jury Demand)

GOOGLE INC.,



)






)



Defendant.

) 


______________________________)


COUNT I

[Violation of Sherman Act, § 2 - Monopolizing and Combining to Monopolize the Search Advertising Market and Submarket for Monetizing the Traffic of Community Search Websites]

Plaintiff, an attorney acting pro se, as and for his Second Amended Complaint, respectfully alleges:

* * *
99..
Google has a specific intent to control prices in each of the Relevant Markets and Submarket and to destroy competition and unreasonably restrain trade in such markets, evidenced by 

A..
Google’s acquisition of the patents, know-how, software copyrights, management and employees of the following companies listed in Exhibit A hereto that related directly to the improvement of Google’s search engine, AdWords, AdSense or marketing thereof: acquisition ## 2 (Outride), 4 (Neotonic), 5 (Applied Semantics), 6 (Kaltix), 7 (Sprinks), 10 (Baidu), 13 (ZIPDash), 15 (possibly, 15 undisclosed companies or asset acquisitions), 17 (Urchin), 23 (AOL 5% interest), 28 (orion advanced text search algorithm), 30 (Neven), 31 (MySpace monetization agreement), 32 (Jot Spot), 33 (YouTube), 35 (Xunlei), 37 Trendalyzer), 38 (DoubleClick), 39 (Performics), 40 possibly some of numerous foreign subsidiaries);

B..
Google’s acquisition of direct competitors in the Internet Advertising Market: 38 (DoubleClick), 23 (AOL 5% interest), 31 (MySpace monetization agreement), 33 (YouTube, competitor in the market for monetizing Community Search Websites; and

C..
each of the anticompetitive activities alleged in ¶¶ 50-72 above.

* * *

COUNT II

[Violation of § 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C.A. § 2 – Attempting to Monopolize – Alternative Allegation to Count I Claims]
* * *

Jury Demand

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury of all issues properly triable to a jury pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

Dated:
New York, New York


April 15, 2007

















___________________________


       
Carl E. Person



Plaintiff, Pro Se


325 W. 45th Street - Suite 201



New York, New York 10036-3803



(212) 307-4444

Exhibit A

(Google’s acquisitions from 2001 to 4/13/07)

1..
Deja, 2/01 (Usenet archive database consisting of 500 million messages, including threads and poster email addresses, dating back to 1995)

2..
Outride Inc., 9/01 (a spin-off from Xerox PARC; Google immediately integrated the technology into Google’s search engine; in its 9/20/01 press release Google stated:

 “Google Acquires Technology Assets of Outride Inc. - Transaction Complements Google's Technology Development To Provide Search Results with Greater Relevance - Google Inc. today announced the company's acquisition of the intellectual property, including patent rights, source code, trademarks, and associated domain names, from Outride Inc., a Redwood City, Calif.-based developer of online information retrieval technologies. … "This acquisition is another example of Google's commitment to providing the highest quality search service in the world," said Larry Page, Google co-founder and president, Products. "Outride has made significant advances in the field of relevance technology and we believe Google provides the ideal vehicle to continue the development of these technologies." Outride, a spin-off from Xerox Palo Alto Research Center (PARC), was created to apply state-of-the-art model-based relevance technology to the challenge of online information retrieval. Outride's technologies were designed to enhance productivity from end-users by simplifying the ability to find the right information at the right time. * * * With the largest index of websites available on the World Wide Web and the industry's most advanced search technology, Google Inc. delivers the fastest and easiest way to find relevant information on the Internet.  [source: http://www.google.com/press/pressrel/outride.html]

3..
Pyra Labs / Blogger, 2/03 (a weblogging provider and owner of Blogger, with 1 million subscribers at the time of acquisition, subsequently built up by Google to be one of the most-used blogging tools) As stated in a 2/18/03 Forbes article:

With its acquisition of Pyra Labs, Web-search juggernaut Google.com apparently sees dollar signs in the business of letting anyone easily publish their comments and thoughts on the Web. 

Blogging, as it's often called, has become, in the last year, a trendy Web toy for the stream-of-consciousness set. Pyra's Blogger, with more than a million users, allows users to write and publish online almost as quickly as a thought strikes. 

As yet the only statement from Google has been a few terse sentences. "Blogs are a global self-publishing phenomenon that connect Internet users with dynamic, diverse points of view while also enabling comment and participation. * * *" [source: http://www.forbes.com/2003/02/18/cx_ah_0218google_print.html]

4..
Neotonic Software, 4/03 (to bring Google's Customer Relationship Management (or “CRM”) technology in-house; CRM software with application for customizing homepages, to automate and manage customer followup);

5..
Applied Semantics, 4/03, $102 million (eventually becoming Google AdSense; context-sensitive ad company integrated into Google's AdWords/AdSense to enable Google to compete with Yahoo’s Overture). In its 4/23/03 press release “Google Acquires Applied Semantics - New Technologies and Engineering Team Complement Google's Content Targeted Advertising Programs”, Google announced:

that it acquired Applied Semantics, a Santa Monica, Calif.-based producer of software applications for the online advertising, domain name and enterprise information management markets. Applied Semantics' products and engineering team will strengthen Google's search and advertising programs, including its fast-growing content-targeted advertising offering. * * *

"Applied Semantics is a proven innovator in semantic text processing and online advertising," said Sergey Brin, Google's co-founder and president of Technology. "This acquisition will enable Google to create new technologies that make online advertising more useful to users, publishers, and advertisers alike."

Applied Semantics' products are based on its patented CIRCA technology, which understands, organizes, and extracts knowledge from websites and information repositories in a way that mimics human thought and enables more effective information retrieval. A key application of the CIRCA technology is Applied Semantics' AdSense product that enables web publishers to understand the key themes on web pages to deliver highly relevant and targeted advertisements.
6..
Kaltix, 9/03 (company acquired this 3-person personalized search startup company to develop and launch Personalized Search). In its 9/30/03 press release entitled “Google Acquires Kaltix Corp. - New Technologies and Engineering Team Complement Google Search Engine”, Google announced:

… it acquired Kaltix Corp., a Palo Alto, Calif.-based search technology start-up.  * * * "Google and Kaltix share a common commitment to developing innovative search technologies that make finding information faster, easier and more relevant," said Larry Page, co-founder and president of Products at Google. "Kaltix is working on a number of compelling search technologies, and Google is the ideal vehicle for the continued development of these advancements."

Kaltix Corp. was formed in June 2003 and focuses on developing personalized and context-sensitive search technologies that make it faster and easier for people to find information on the web.
7..
Sprinks, 10/03 (acquired to enhance Google's AdWords and AdSense programs). In a 10/24/03 article entitled “Google Acquires Sprinks: Gains Access to Advertiser Base and Ad Placement on About.com and Primedia Online Publications”, traffick.com stated [source: http://www.traffick.com/2003/10/google-acquires-sprinks-gains-access.asp]:

Sprinks, an innovator in the pay-per-click keyword-targeted ad space, is no more, following an acquisition by category leader Google, Inc. 

Sprinks ads currently show up on 450 topic-specific About.com Guide Sites as well as 127 magazine-related websites targeting readers of major Primedia publications. 

As part of the deal, Google has signed a four-year revenue-sharing agreement to show ads on these sites. 

In the area of so-called contextual pay-per-click ads (ads near relevant content, not triggered by search results), Sprinks had been a recent thorn in the side of the industry leaders, Google, Overture, and Findwhat. Its ContentSprinks offering gave advertisers superior "channel control" than the often unpredictable contextual ads shown by its competitors. It's not clear if the acquisition will lead Google to rethink how it shows some of its contextual ads. 

According to Marshall Simmonds, Director of Search for Primedia and About.com, the two parties have set a 45-day integration schedule to integrate Sprinks staff into Google and after which Google AdWords ads will begin showing on Sprinks' former network. 

As for how the integration might affect Google's approach to contextual advertising, Simmonds says: "It's difficult to speculate. The main thing is that Google will now have access to our large network of topically-relevant sites."

8..
Genius Labs, 10/03 (a second weblog provider)

9..
Ignite Logic, 4/04 (a company building websites for law firms, adding to Google’s expertise in distributed computing and extending Google’s distributed computing platform)

10..
Baidu, 6/04, $5 million (2.6% ownership in the leading web search firm in China, a competitor of Google; China is the 2nd largest internet market; sold for $60 million in 6/06)

11..
Picasa, 7/04 (picture management tools for Blogger)

12..
Keyhole, 10/04 (to provide the core mapping capabilities in Google Earth)

13..
ZipDash, 9-12/04 (to develop and launch Google Ride Finder). A 3/30/05 SiliconBeat article in the Mercury News discussing Google’s secret, non-reported acquisition revealed:

Zipdash “… tackles highway congestion by providing individuals with real-time, accurate traffic information." Some of the technology is/was intended to allow mobile phone users to get real-time traffic info using the GPS in their phones.

UPDATE: A Google spokesman got back to us to confirm both acquisitions, which he said were made because of the companies' "talented engineers and great technology.'' He declined to comment further.
14..
Where2 LLC, 9-12/04 (to provide the core mapping capabilities in Google Maps)

15..
9 companies and substantially all of the assets of another 6 companies, during 2005, for a combined purchase price of $131 million (according to Google's 10-K filing)

16..
2Web Technologies, 2004/2005 (spinoff of ITK Software, key part of Google's plan to develop and launch Google Spreadsheets to compete with Microsoft; acquired spreadsheet team) 

17..
Urchin Software Corporation, 3/05, $30 million (web analytics and statistics technology used to develop and launch Google Analytics).  In John Battelle’s 3/28/05 Searchblog, Battle quoted from Google’s press release and commented on the acquisition [source: http://battellemedia.com/archives/001360.php]:

… [the release stated that Google] “has agreed to acquire Urchin Software Corporation, a San Diego, California based web analytics company. 

“Urchin is a web site analytics solution used by web site owners and 
marketers to better understand their users' experiences, optimize 
content and track marketing performance. Urchin tools are available as 
a hosted service, a software product and through large web hosting 
providers. These products are used by thousands of popular sites on the 
Internet. 

“Google plans to make these tools available to web site owners and 
marketers to better enable them to increase their advertising return on 
investment and make their web sites more effective. 

"’We want to provide web site owners and marketers with the 
information they need to optimize their users' experience and 
generate a higher return-on-investment from their advertising 
spending," said Jonathan Rosenberg, vice president of product 
management, Google. "This technology will be a valuable addition to 
Google's suite of advertising and publishing products.’” [end of release]

So this is interesting on a number of levels. Urchin was a third party system that many used to understand their Google ads, among others. As part of a Google suite of tools, it will take on a decidedly different cast. More as the word trickles out. BTW, I was told by the tipster that the price was $30 million. 

18..
Dodgeball, 2/05 (a 2-person cell phone social networking software provider for mobile devices)

19..
Current Communications Group, 7/05 (Google together with Goldman Sachs and Hearst Corporation invest $100 million; an investment in a company which provides broadband services through power lines)

20..
Akwan Information Technologies, 7/05 (part of plan to open an R&D office and expand Google's presence into Latin and South America) [one of 3 companies acquired by Google for $22.5 million]

21..
Reqwireless, 7/05 (web browser and mobile email software developer for wireless devices, as part of Google's initiative to develop a version of Gmail for the mobile device) ) [one of 3 companies acquired by Google for $22.5 million]

22..
Android Inc., 8/05 (software provider for mobile devices) ) [one of 3 companies acquired by Google for $22.5 million]

23..
Time Warner's AOL division, 12/05, $1 billion (for 5% stake, in a competitor of Google, which also enabled Google to run its Search Advertising alongside the search results for AOL website visitors; an example of how Google is monetizing the website of a competitor (in which Google purchased a 5% interest) and could monetize Plaintiff’s websites if it chose to do so;

24..
DMarc Broadcasting, 1/06, $102 million plus additional maximum of $1.136 billion (creator and operator of an automated platform that lets advertisers more easily schedule, deliver and monitor their ads over radio, and radio broadcasters to automate schedules and advertising spots)

25..
Measure Map, 2/06 (from Adaptive Path, a product to help with Blog analytics). On his first day at work for Google, the acquired team leader stated:

Our goal has been to use the power of web analytics to help bloggers feel that same sense of connection with their audience. Today, as the Measure Map team joins Google, our mission remains the same: to build the best possible user experience so people can understand and appreciate the effect their blogs - their words and ideas - can have. * * *

Bringing Measure Map to Google is an exciting validation of the user experience work I've been doing with my partners at Adaptive Path for years. By opening up the app to more bloggers through Google, we hope to help even more people become passionate about their blogs.

26..
Writely, 3/06 (company with online word processing program of same name, to enable Google to offer a free application to undermine competitor Microsoft’s market share for word processing programs)

27..
Sketchup, 3/06 (using a plugin, this program allows one to place 3D models into Google Earth)

28..
Orion, an advanced text search algorithm, 4/06 (from inventor Ori Allon, an Israeli-born student at the University of New South Wales in Australia; The advanced text-search algorithm…will make searches much less time-consuming; instead of finding pages on the net that contain keywords, then providing links, the new search engine will provide expanded text extracts which will eradicate the need to open every link. Orion has sparked interest from the likes of Google and Yahoo, with Google acquiring the rights to the algorithm)

29..
GTalkr, 5/06 (web-based, Flash-based IM client focused exclusively on interfacing with Google's GTalk)

30..
Neven Vision, 8/06 (company that specializes in biometric identification, to make it easier for Google’s Picasa to organize and search for photos)

31..
MySpace, 8/06, $900,000,000 minimum over 3-1/4 years for licensing use of Google’s search engine, keyword-targeted AdWords advertising system and advertiser database (the “AdWords Platform”) by MySpace and other News Corporation’s Fox Interative Media (“FIM”) (competitors of Google); with all revenues from use of the AdWords Platform being paid to FIM until $900,000,000 minimum is received by FIM; the licensing includes, upon information and belief, the non-exclusive licensing of use of various patents owned by Google; an example of Google permitting FIM, a favored customer (and competitor of Google in monetizing website traffic), to use the Essential Facility for the essential purpose of monetizing YouTube’s traffic, and dividing the revenues by agreement between Google and competitor FIM  

32..
JotSpot, 10/06 (an application Wiki company to offer enterprise social software; product is targeted mainly to small and medium-sized businesses; company was founded by Joe Kraus and Graham Spencer, co-founders of Excite)

33..
YouTube, 11/06, $1.65 billion in stock (online video sharing website, with company retaining its brand), an example of Google using its Essential Facility to monetize YouTube’s traffic, but only after it was acquired by Google; upon information and belief, the agreement eliminated $ billions of copyright infringement liability or potential liability that YouTube.com had to FIM/Murdoch;

34..
Endoxon, 12/06, $28 million (an Internet and mobile mapping solutions developer)

  35.
Xunlei, a Chinese company, 1/07, non-disclosed price (buys a stake in company, a person-to-person file sharing service);

36..
Adscape, 2/07, $23 million (video game advertising);

37..
Trendalyzer, 3/07, undisclosed price (data visualization software as a management tool for use with AdWords and by AdWords advertisers, upon information and belief); 3/16/07 blogspot.com stated:

Google decided to acquire the technology from Gapminder. "Gathering data and creating useful statistics is an arduous job that often goes unrecognized. We hope to provide the resources necessary to bring such work to its deserved wider audience by improving and expanding Trendalyzer and making it freely available to any and all users capable of thinking outside the X and Y axes," says Marissa Mayer.

38..
DoubleClick, 4/07, $3.1 billion (the leading online advertising company with annual revenues of $300 million, enabling its customers to turn website traffic into money through labor intensive online display advertising, but to a much lesser extent than Google is able to do with Google’s Search Advertising  system with an 8% cost of sales; with an auction market for online advertising; Google outbid Microsoft; enables Google to move into online advertising market where Google had no presence; purpose of acquisition is to stifle Microsoft’s competition; see 4/14/07 NY Times article which states “Acquiring DoubleClick expands Google’s business far beyond algorithm-driven ad auctions into a relationship-based business with Web publishers and advertisers. Google has been expanding its AdSense network into video and display ads online and is selling ads to a limited degree on television, newspapers and radio.”). Google’s own lengthy FAQ concerning the acquisition [published at http://216.239.57.110/blog_resources/DC_FAQ.pdf] is compelling evidence supporting Plaintiff’s allegation that context advertising is a different market from Search Advertising, as follows:

* * * “We see this acquisition as bringing the worlds of search and display advertising together. … DoubleClick currently has approximately 1,200 employees.  [p.1]; … we will provide additional monetization opportunities and efficiencies to maximize their [AdSense publishers’] revenue. … The acquisition will give advertisers more targeting and buying options and will provide maximum reach for their target audience…. Working with DoubleClick, we will make online text and display advertising more targeted and relevant for the user and therefore more valuable to the advertiser. … provide additional revenue potential while letting them focus more on creating and maintaining websites that appeal to users. Upon closing, DoubleClick publishers will then have access to our large base of advertisers. … When done properly, advertising can be useful and provide relevant information at the precise moment when a user is interested in acquiring a service or product. Working with DoubleClick, we are confident that advertisers and agencies will apply that principle to display advertising across the web to not only benefit advertisers and publishers but also [p.2] to ensure a high quality and relevant online experience for users. … DoubleClick has thousands of clients. There is some overlap with Google’s current client base. We believe this offers synergies for advertisers and publishers to place the right ad at the right time to the right user, using both text and display advertising. … increasing productivity and profitability …[p.3] Working with DoubleClick, we will increase the relevance of ads online so that we maintain a positive user experience while provid[ing] targeted ad opportunities for advertisers and increased monetization for publishers. … The majority of Doubleclick’s business is in the United States…. Q. Is this acquisition a response to the minimal traction Google has made thus far on brand advertising efforts?  A. No. it’s an opportunity to combine our business with the complementary capabilities DoubleClick has to offer.  Doubleclick and Google will be able to offer a better, more comprehensive experience than either company could offer alone – for advertisers, publishers, and ad agencies. … This partnership is an obvious opportunity to expand our ads business and have a positive impact on our search users in the process… Q. Given Google’s technology expertise, why is it necessary to acquire Doubleclick? A. DoubleClick offers a unique opportunity to acquire capabilities that are complementary to Google’s existing business.  Q. How does this acquisition broaden Google’s market opportunity?  A. This acquisition represents a tremendous opportunity for Google to accelerate our display advertising business and to broaden and deepen the inventory available to all [p.4] advertisers.  Advertisers will have the data, tools, and reporting they need to grow their search and display advertising spend. In addition, currently unsold publisher inventory will become more readily available and also contribute to growth in advertising revenues.  Q. Do you believe this acquisition will stifle competition?  A. No. we do not believe this acquisition is anti-competitive, as it promotes a vibrant, healthy market for online advertising. … We do see the opportunity to monetize more types of inventory as a large opportunity and will address this opportunity through some combination of our existing initiatives and DoubleClick’s existing initiatives.  Performics is part of DoubleClick, and we are acquiring it as part of the transaction. [p.5]

39..
Performics, a company purchased by DoubleClick in May 2004 for $58-65 million (search engine marketing and affiliate marketing products), acquired by Google when acquiring DoubleClick during 4/07;
40..
Google’s foreign subsidiaries (listed in Google’s 2006 Annual Report), some of which (upon information and belief) involve acquisitions by Google of competitors, technology, patents and other assets which any would require expense to offset by any Google competitor in the United States [source: http://www.searchenginejournal.com/googles-30-us-subsidiaries-googles-international-companies/4481/]:

Aegino Limited : Ireland 

@Last Software, Ltd. : United Kingdom 

At Last Software GmbH : Germany 

allPAY GmbH : Germany 

bruNET GmbH : Germany 

bruNET Holding AG : Germany 

bruNET Schweiz GmbH : Switzerland 

Endoxon Ltd. : Switzerland 

Endoxon (India) Private Ltd. : India 

Endoxon Prepress AG : Switzerland 

Endoxon (Deutchland) GmbH : Germany 

Google (Hong Kong) Limited : Hong Kong 

Google Advertising and Marketing Limited : Turkey 

Google Akwan Internet Ltda. : Brazil 

Google Argentina S.R.L. : Argentina 

Google Australia Pty Ltd. : Australia 

Google Belgium NV : Belgium 

Google Bermuda Limited : Bermuda 

Google Bermuda Unlimited : Bermuda 

Google Brasil Internet Ltda. : Brazil 

Google Canada Corporation : Nova Scotia, Canada 

Google Chile Limitada : Chile 

Google Czech Republic s.r.o. : Czech Republic 

Google Denmark ApS : Denmark 

Google Finland OY : Finland 

Google France SarL : France 

Google Information Technology Services Limited Liability Company : Hungary 

Google Germany GmbH : Germany 

Google India Private Limited : India 

Google International GmbH : Austria 

Google Ireland Holdings : Ireland 

Google Ireland Limited : Ireland 

Google Israel Ltd : Israel 

Google Italy s.r.l. : Italy 

Google Japan Inc. : Japan 

Google Korea, LLC. : Korea 

Google Limited Liability Company - Google OOO : Russia 

Google Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V. : Mexico 

Google Netherlands B.V. : The Netherlands 

Google Netherlands Holdings B.V. : The Netherlands 

Google New Zealand Ltd. : New Zealand 

Google Norway AS : Norway 

Google Payment Ltd. : United Kingdom 

Google Payment Hong Kong Limited : Hong Kong 

Google Payment Singapore Pte. Ltd. : Singapore 

Google Poland Sp. z o.o. : Poland 

Google Singapore Pte. Ltd. : Singapore 

Google South Africa (Proprietary) Limited : South Africa 

Google Spain, S.L. : Spain 

Google Sweden AB : Sweden 

Google Switzerland GmbH : Switzerland 

Google UK Limited : United Kingdom 

Neven Vision KK : Japan 

Neven Vision Germany GmbH : Germany 

Leonberger Holdings B.V. : The Netherlands 

Reqwireless Inc. : Ontario, Canada 

Skydocks GmbH : Germany 
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